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Document No.092
October 26, 2023
To the International Accounting Standards Board
Accounting & Tax Committee
Japan Foreign Trade Council,

Inc.

Comments on the Request for Information

“Post-implementation Review IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers"

The following are the comments from the Accounting & Tax Committee of Japan
Foreign Trade Council (JFTC) regarding the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB)’s Request for Information "Post-implementation Review IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers". JE'TC is a trade-industry association with Japanese trading
companies and trading organizations as its core members, while the principal function
of its Accounting & Tax Committee is to respond to developments in Japanese and
international accounting standards. (Member companies of JFTC Accounting & Tax

Committee are listed at the end of this document.)
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Question 1 — Overall assessment of IFRS 15

(a) In your view, has IFRS 15 achieved its objective? Why or why not?

Please explain whether the core principle and the supporting five-step revenue
recognition model provide a clear and suitable basis for revenue accounting
decisions that result in useful information about an entity’s revenue from

contracts with customers.

If not, please explain what you think are the fundamental questions (fatal flaws)
about the clarity and suitability of the core principle or the five-step revenue

recognition model.

(b) Do you have any feedback on the understandability and accessibility of IFRS 15
that the IASB could consider:

(@) in developing future Standards; or

(ii) in assessing whether, and if so how, it could improve the understandability
of IFRS 15 without changing its requirements or causing significant cost and
disruption to entities already applying the Standard—for example, by
providing education materials or flowcharts explaining the links between the

requirements?

(©) What are the ongoing costs and benefits of applying the requirements in IFRS 15

and how significant are they?

If, in your view, the ongoing costs of applying IFRS 15 are significantly greater
than expected or the benefits of the resulting information to users of financial
statements are significantly lower than expected, please explain why you hold

this view.

These questions aim to help the IASB understand respondents’ overall views and

experiences relating to IFRS 15. Sections 2-9 seek more detailed information on

specific requirements.

Regarding (a)

+ As an overall assessment, we think that IFRS 15 is generally achieving the objective
that the IASB originally intended.

Regarding (b)
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- In many cases entities struggle in applying the standard to individual transactions,
and we would like the IASB to provide specific examples, especially more replete

examples for the wholesale industry.

Regarding (c)

- At entities which have many group companies and prepare consolidated financial
statements, large ongoing costs are emerging in practice, especially when disclosing
the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations that are not
on the balance sheet in financial statements, and certain ongoing costs will continue

to emerge going forward.

Question 2 — Identifying performance obligations in a contract

(a) Does IFRS 15 provide a clear and sufficient basis to identify performance
obligations in a contract? If not, why not?
Please describe fact patterns in which the requirements:
(i) are unclear or are applied inconsistently;
(i) lead to outcomes that in your view do not reflect the underlying economic

substance of the contract; or

(iii) lead to significant ongoing costs.
If diversity in application exists, please explain and provide supporting evidence
about how pervasive the diversity is and explain what causes it. Please also
explain how the diversity affects entities’ financial statements and the usefulness

of the resulting information to users of financial statements.

(b) Do you have any suggestions for resolving the matters you have identified?

N/A

Question 3 — Determining the transaction price

(a) Does IFRS 15 provide a clear and sufficient basis to determine the transaction
price in a contract—in particular, in relation to accounting for consideration
payable to a customer? If not, why not?

Please describe fact patterns in which the requirements on how to account for
incentives paid by an agent to the end customer or for negative net consideration
from a contract (see Spotlight 3) are unclear or are applied inconsistently.

If diversity in application exists, please explain and provide supporting evidence

10

—iRAEEA BEREBSR
Japan Foreign Trade Council, Inc.



JFTC

about how pervasive the diversity is and explain what causes it.
Please also explain how the diversity affects entities’ financial statements and the

usefulness of the resulting information to users of financial statements.

() Do you have any suggestions for resolving the matters you have identified?

N/A

Question 4 — Determining when to recognise revenue

(a) Does IFRS 15 provide a clear and sufficient basis to determine when to recognise
revenue? If not, why not?
Please describe fact patterns in which the requirements are unclear or are applied
inconsistently—in particular, in relation to the criteria for recognising revenue
over time (see Spotlight 4).
If diversity in application exists, please explain and provide supporting evidence
about how pervasive the diversity is and explain what causes it.
Please also explain how the diversity affects entities’ financial statements and the
usefulness of the resulting information to users of financial statements.

(b) Do you have any suggestions for resolving the matters you have identified?

Regarding (a)

- In cases where revenues are recognized at the time of delivery on the basis of prices
and quantities determined each time by individual contracts and order forms based
on a long-term supply contract concluded for the provision of specific goods over a
fixed period of time, it is unclear whether the practical expedient in IFRS 15. B16
applies to the fulfillment of performance obligations based on the concerned long-term

supply contract.

Regarding (b)

* We propose that the IASB clarify the purport of the application of the practical
expedient in IFRS 15. B16 and provide detailed guidance and examples.

Question 5 — Principal versus agent considerations

(a) Does IFRS 15 provide a clear and sufficient basis to determine whether an entity
is a principal or an agent? If not, why not?

Please describe fact patterns in which the requirements are unclear or are applied

inconsistently—in particular, in relation to the concept of control and related

11
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indicators (see Spotlight 5).

If diversity in application exists, please explain and provide supporting evidence
about how pervasive the diversity is and explain what causes it.

Please also explain how the diversity affects entities’ financial statements and the

usefulness of the resulting information to users of financial statements.

(b) Do you have any suggestions for resolving the matters you have identified?

N/A

Question 6 — Licensing

(a) Does IFRS 15 provide a clear and sufficient basis for accounting for contracts
involving licences? If not, why not?
Please describe fact patterns in which the requirements are unclear or are applied
inconsistently—in particular, in relation to matters described in Spotlight 6.
If diversity in application exists, please explain and provide supporting evidence
about how pervasive the diversity is and explain what causes it. Please also
explain how the diversity affects entities’ financial statements and the usefulness

of the resulting information to users of financial statements.

(b) Do you have any suggestions for resolving the matters you have identified?

N/A

Question 7 — Disclosure requirements

(a) Do the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 result in entities providing useful
information to users of financial statements? Why or why not?

Please identify any disclosures that are particularly useful to users of financial
statements and explain why. Please also identify any disclosures that do not
provide useful information and explain why the information is not useful.

(b) Do any disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 give rise to significant ongoing costs?
Please explain why meeting the requirements is costly and whether the costs are
likely to remain high over the long term.

(¢ Have you observed significant variation in the quality of disclosed revenue

information? If so, what in your view causes such variation and what steps, if any,

could the IASB take to improve the quality of the information provided?

12
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Regarding (a) and (b)
- We propose the deletion of some of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15. 116(a)
and IFRS 15.120-122.

- IFRS 15.116(a) requires disclosure of the opening and closing balances of contract
assets and contract liabilities. From the perspective of preparers of financial
statements, providing disclosure regarding contract assets and liabilities has a
corresponding preparation cost burden. On the other hand, it is surmised that the
general conditions can be grasped from the information presented by category
(receivables and payables) on the statement of financial position, and there are
doubts about whether the benefits exceed the costs. Consequently, we propose that
the disclosure of the opening and closing balances of contract assets and contact

liabilities be deleted.

+ IFRS 15.120-122 require disclosure of the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations. The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations is a figure that is not on the balance sheet, in practice large
ongoing costs are emerging in its calculation, and there will be similar
circumstances going forward. Meanwhile, there are doubts about the usefulness and
extent of use for users of financial statements, so we propose that these

requirements be deleted.

Question 8 — Transition requirements

a) Did the transition requirements work as the IASB intended? Why or why not?
Please explain:
(i) whether entities applied the modified retrospective method or the practical
expedients and why; and
(ii) whether the transition requirements in IFRS 15 achieved an appropriate
balance between reducing costs for preparers of financial statements and

providing useful information to users of financial statements.

N/A

Question 9 — Applying IFRS 15 with other IFRS Accounting Standards

(a) Is it clear how to apply the requirements in IFRS 15 with the requirements in

other IFRS Accounting Standards? If not, why not?

13
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Please describe and provide supporting evidence about fact patterns in which it
is unclear how to apply IFRS 15 with the requirements of other IFRS Accounting
Standards, how pervasive the fact patterns are, what causes the ambiguity and
how that ambiguity affects entities’ financial statements and the usefulness of the
resulting information to users of financial statements. The IASB is particularly

interested in your experience with the matters described in Spotlights 9.1-9.3.

(b) Do you have any suggestions for resolving the matters you have identified?

Regarding (a)
+ There are cases where it is not clear. Regarding the case presented in Spotlight 9.2
(the impairment of contract assets), we agree with the point that some stakeholders
are unsure whether to apply the requirements of IFRS 15 (contract modifications and

price concessions) or IFRS 9 (impairment of receivables or contract assets).

Regarding (b)
+ We propose that the standards clearly prescribe which of the requirements should be

applied.

Question 10 — Convergence with Topic 606

(a) How important is retaining the current level of convergence between IFRS 15 and

Topic 606 to you and why?

Regarding (a)

+ In the statutory audits of US corporations, financial statements are prepared in
compliance with US accounting standards as in the past, so the convergence of both
standards is significant and important for entities with affiliated companies that are
US corporations and entities that continue to expect M&A with US corporations in

the future. We desire continued earnest consultation by the IASB and FASB.

Question 11 — Other matters

(@) Are there any further matters that you think the IASB should examine as part
of the post-implementation review of IFRS 157 If yes, what are those matters and
why should they be examined?

Please explain why those matters should be considered in the context of this post-

implementation review and the pervasiveness of any matter raised.

Please provide examples and supporting evidence.

14
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Regarding (a)

* While more replete disclosure information is sought regarding sustainability, human
capital, etc., there are limits to the preparation costs that entities can bear, and it is
necessary to focus on information that is more useful. Regarding the benefits to users
of financial statements, following scrutiny of this review, we would like the IASB to
consider revision and omission of disclosure requirements for items where the benefits

are less than expected (even when the downward deviation is not remarkable).
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